2009-CA-01260-T

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01260; "DENNIS C. SWEET, III, and KIMBERLY NOEL-SWEET v. TCI MS, INC.; TCI MS INVESTMENTS, INC. (TCI MS INVESTMENT, INC.); and John Does 1-5"

Pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, as well as, Rule 28(a)(1) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, the undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made so that the Honorable Justices of the Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR # 1: SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS IMPROPERLY GRANTED WHERE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT ARE PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT
- II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR # 2: THE BURDEN OF PROVING THAT NO DISPUTED FACT ISSUES EXIST RESTS WITH THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOVANT
- III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR # 3: SELF-SERVING TESTIMONY (i.e. A CONCLUSORY AFFIDAVIT) CANNOT BE THE BASIS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
- IV. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR # 4: EVERY CONTRACT IMPOSES UPON EACH PARTY A DUTY OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING IN ITS PERFORMANCE AND ITS ENFORCEMENT
- V. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR # 5: A PARTY SHOULD NOT RESIST DISCOVERY AND AT THE SAME TIME MOVE FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
- VI. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR # 6: WHERE A CONTRACT IS SAID TO BE AMBIGUOUS WITHIN ITS FOUR CORNERS, SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS IMPROPER
- VII. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR # 7: ENFORCING A CONTRACT'S CLAUSE ADDRESSING ATTORNEY'S FEES WITHOUT ENFORCING THE ENTIRE CONTRACT IS CONTRARY TO LAW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from an erroneous summary judgment granted by a fundamentally unfair adjudicatory process, which denied realistic discovery and allowed a dismissal of the lawsuit on the basis of a conclusory affidavit. This action by the trial court is contrary to established principles of Mississippi law.

The original suit brought by Dennis C. Sweet, III and Kimberly Noel-Sweet (hereinafter collectively referenced as "Sweet") was brought to recover earnest money under a written contract due to the breach of said contract, and a breach of the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing. This appeal arises from an Amended Final Judgment of the Chancery Court of Hinds County where Special Chancellor Ray H. Montgomery granted a motion for summary judgment dismissing Sweet's claims, and granted an award of attorney's fees in favor of TCI MS, Inc. and/or TCI MS Investments, Inc. (TCI MS Investment, Inc.) (hereinafter collectively referenced as "TCI") in the amount of \$18,384.24. R. at 200. Contrary to the chancery court's conclusion, Sweet contends that the Special Chancellor erred in granting a motion for summary judgment and awarding attorney's fees, and that the judgment should be reversed.

II. Statement of the Facts

Sweet owns the property located at 158 East Pascagoula Street in Jackson, Mississippi. The property was purchased as a location for Dennis C. Sweet, III, to practice law. Sometime following initial renovations, Sweet was approached by representatives of TCI, who expressed interest in purchasing the property. TCI initially attempted to purchase the subject property, along with certain other properties, because of its proximity to the Convention Center in downtown Jackson. Sweet and TCI's representatives immediately began negotiating as to a fair and reasonable price; during this negotiation period, Sweet stopped their renovations with the understanding that the sale of the subject premises was imminent.

On or about June 26, 2007, Sweet reached an agreement to sell and TCI agreed to purchase the subject premises for the sum of One Million Two Hundred Thousand

Dollars (\$1,200,000.00). R. at 19. TCI agreed to proffer earnest money in the amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00), which was deposited by TCI in the trust account of Danks, Miller, Hamer & Cory. R. at 12. Pursuant to the contract, the closing date of the sale was to have taken place on or before August 15, 2007 at the offices of Danks, Miller, Hamer & Cory. R. at 20. At all relevant times, Sweet was fully ready, willing and able to perform all aspects of their obligations under the contract.

When it was determined that the other contemplated property purchases could not be made, TCI then attempted to breach the contract. TCI allowed the closing date to pass without making any effort to honor their duties and/or obligations under the contract in question, violating the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing. (emphasis added) TCI's failure to close resulted in a breach of the contract. Further, TCI and Michael V. Cory, in his official capacity as a member and principal in the law firm of Danks, Miller, Hamer & Cory, willfully withheld the earnest money in the amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) which was deposited by TCI into the trust account of Danks, Miller, Hamer & Cory. Discovery was propounded to TCI requesting documents demonstrating financing and financing attempts. To date, TCI has not produced any documents as to application, financing, rejection, etc. Without these documents, it is unclear as to what TCI's true motive was for breaching the contract.

III. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

Sweet filed their Original Complaint in this matter on or about February 29, 2008, alleging *inter alia* negligence, gross negligence, breach of contract, anticipatory breach of contract, detrimental reliance and conversion. R. at 1. Sweet filed their First Amended Complaint on or about March 3, 2008, alleging identical causes of action. R. at 10. TCI filed their Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Sweet's First Amended Complaint on or about September 24, 2008, which set forth their affirmative plea of avoidance. R. at 64.

On or about March 5, 2009, Special Chancellor Ray Montgomery entered an Order dismissing Michael V. Cory, in his Official Capacity as a Member and Principal in the Law Firm of Danks, Miller, Hamer & Cory, from the underlying lawsuit. R. at 88. On or about April 29, 2009, TCI filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. R. at 89. On or about May 6, 2009, Sweet filed their Response and Memorandum of Authorities in

Opposition to TCI's Motion for Summary Judgment, as well as their Notice of Service of Requests for Admissions, Interrogatories and Requests for Production. R. at 125, 130.

On or about July 24, 2009, oral arguments were heard before Special Chancellor Ray H. Montgomery. R. at Vol. 3 of 3, pg. 1-29. Special Chancellor Montgomery entered an Order Granting Summary Judgment the same day. R. at 160. On or about August 4, 2009, TCI filed its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs. R. at 164. Sweet filed their Response in Opposition to TCI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs on or about August 11, 2009. R. at 192. On or about August 20, 2009, Special Chancellor Montgomery entered an Order Granting TCI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs, and amended the Final Judgment in this matter the same day. R. at 199. Sweet timely perfected their Notice of Appeal from the Amended Final Judgment on or about September 1, 2009. R. at 201.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo. Please See *Moss v. Batesville Casket Co.*, 935 So.2d 393, 398(15) (Miss.2006) (citing *Stuckey v. Provident Bank*, 912 So.2d 859, 864(8) (Miss.2005)). A party is entitled to summary judgment where “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” M.R.C.P. 56(c). The movant bears the burden of demonstrating that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the non-movant is afforded the benefit of any reasonable doubt. *Moss*, 935 So.2d at 398(16) (citing *Tucker v. Hinds County*, 558 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss.1990)).

“When reviewing an award of summary judgment, this Court views all evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant, including ‘admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc.,’ and will presume that all evidence in the non-movant's favor is true.” *Downs v. Choo*, 656 So.2d 84, 85 (Miss. 1995) (citing *Daniels v. GNB, Inc.*, 629 So.2d 595, 599 (Miss.1993)). All summary judgment motions should be viewed with great skepticism and the trial court should err on the side of denying the motion. The non-movant gets the benefit of the doubt as to whether there is a fact issue. The court does not try issues of fact on a summary judgment motion but may only decide if there are issues to be tried. Please See *Daniels v. GNB, Inc.*, 629 So.2d 595 (Miss. 1993).

When a summary judgment motion is filed, the non-movant must rebut by producing significant probative evidence. However, the burden of rebuttal does not arise until the movant has satisfied its burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact exists. Please See *Hurst v. Southwest Mississippi Legal Services Corp.*, 610 So.2d 374 (Miss. 1992). The burden of proving that no disputed issues of fact exist rests with the movant for summary judgment and the burden is one of persuasion and production not of proof. Please See *Frank v. Dore*, 635 So.2d 1369 (Miss. 1994).

A party does not have to submit an affidavit to negate a claim (e.g., an affirmative defense) of the other party on which the other party will bear the burden of proof at trial. Please See *Millican v. Turner*, 503 So.2d 289 (Miss. 1987). In considering a summary

judgment motion, the court should not accept a conclusory affidavit when it is not the best evidence that could be obtained, since to do so prohibits full development of all the facts which are necessary for a proper ruling. In such a case, the conclusory affidavit is more than formally defective. Please See *Scott v. City of Biloxi*, 592 So.2d 1003 (Miss. 1991).

Because self-serving testimony cannot be the basis for summary judgment, a party should offer something more than his own affidavit to support the motion. Statements in an affidavit must be based on personal knowledge. Where the credibility of the witness making the statements is at issue, i.e. is the witness testifying from personal knowledge, summary judgment is inappropriate. Please See *Quay v. Crawford*, 786 So.2d 76 (Miss.Ct.App.2001) (Please See Also Miss.R.Civ.P. 56(e)).

Although the district court may cut off discovery when the record shows that further discovery is not likely to produce the facts needed to withstand the motion for summary judgment, when a party is not given a full and fair opportunity to discover information essential to its opposition to summary judgment, the limitation on discovery is reversible error. Please See *Brown v. Mississippi Valley State University*, 311 F.3d 328 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). A party should not resist discovery and at the same time move for summary judgment. *Smith v. H.C. Bailey Companies*, 477 So.2d 224 (Miss. 1985). The Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals reviews a district court's decision to cut off discovery in order to rule on summary judgment for an abuse of discretion. Please See *Moore v. Willis Indep. Sch. Dist.*, 233 F.3d 871, 876 (5th Cir.2000) and *Krim v. BancTexas Group, Inc.*, 989 F.2d 1435, 1441 (5th Cir.1993).

Where a case involves a contract or deed which was said to be ambiguous within its four corners, summary judgment is improper because the construction of the provisions involves fact issues. Please See *Pursue Energy Corp. v. Perkins*, 558 So.2d 349 (Miss. 1990), *Willis v. Mississippi Farm Bureau Mutual Ins. Co.*, 481 So.2d 256 (Miss. 1985) and *Sanford v. Jackson Mall Shopping Center Co.*, 516 So.2d 227 (Miss. 1987).

The Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals reviews a grant or denial of attorneys' fees under an abuse of discretion standard. *Mauck v. Columbus Hotel Co.*, 741 So.2d 259, 269(¶ 32) (Miss.1999). The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that

“unless a statute or contract provides for the imposition of attorney fees, they are not recoverable.” *Hearn v. Autumn Woods Office Park Property Owners Ass'n*, 757 So.2d 155, 164 (Miss.1999). An award of attorney fees should not be used as means to penalize. *Lenoir v. Lenoir*, 611 So.2d 200 (Miss.1992).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Sweet has maintained a good claim for breach of contract, an even more meritorious claim for breach of the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing, and yet the trial court sustained a dispositive motion on the sole basis of an affidavit to legal conclusions not based on personal knowledge of specific facts. The trial court erred in adjudicating the case on the basis of a conclusory affidavit rather than on the merits of Sweet's claims.

The only evidence, basis and/or grounds for TCI's summary judgment motion (which was based solely on TCI's contention that the 'obtain financing' provision of the contract was an unfulfilled condition precedent to contract enforcement) was a single, self-serving affidavit. The trial court made a credibility finding as to the validity and believability of the single affidavit. The basis of TCI's motion for summary judgment (alleged inability to obtain financing) is an affirmative plea or defense as to which TCI had the burden of proof, and which they did not meet. Because they offered no proof outside the one page, self-serving, conclusory affidavit, the burden of proof never shifted to Sweet.

The determination of credibility as to the affidavit is an issue of fact for the jury to determine, not the trial court. Absent any applications, contracts, statements of credit worthiness, proof or statements of assets of TCI companies and/or holdings, statements from bank officials or executives verifying that TCI applied for financing and was turned down, or any other such evidence, there can be no demonstration of a good faith effort on TCI's part to obtain financing.

If TCI claims that they had a reason to breach the contract, then the law requires them to **prove it**. (emphasis added) The trial court could not have properly determined that no genuine issues of material fact existed, absent a final statement from TCI that no financing application documents exist. If no financing documents exist, then TCI has breached their duties of good faith and fair dealing (the covenant contained in every contractual agreement entered into) by failing to make a good faith effort to obtain the requisite financing.

ARGUMENT

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR # 1: SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS IMPROPERLY GRANTED WHERE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT ARE PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT

I. The trial court violated the requirements of Rule 56 in hearing and deciding the motion of summary judgment without meaningful discovery

The trial court did not follow Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, and was fundamentally unfair in attempting to arrive at summary judgment. In order to arrive at summary judgment, the trial court had to have every necessary fact for a judgment as a matter of law, without dispute; the trial court simply did not have every necessary fact before it. Summary judgment in this case was not supported by documents and did not speak to the elements of the case. The trial court suspended meaningful discovery and ruled on TCI's dispositive motion, despite Sweet's attempts to get the requested discovery. The trial court's preemption of the completion of meaningful discovery violated well-established principles of fundamental fairness and procedural due process.

A party is entitled to summary judgment where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." M.R.C.P. 56(c). The movant bears the burden of demonstrating that there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the non-movant is afforded the benefit of any reasonable doubt. *Moss*, 935 So.2d at 398(16) (citing *Tucker v. Hinds County*, 558 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss.1990)).

"When reviewing an award of summary judgment, this Court views all evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant, including 'admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc.,' and will presume that all evidence in the non-movant's favor is true." *Downs v. Choo*, 656 So.2d 84, 85 (Miss. 1995) (citing *Daniels v. GNB, Inc.*, 629 So.2d 595, 599 (Miss.1993)). All summary judgment motions should be viewed with great skepticism and the trial court should err on the side of denying the motion. The non-movant gets the benefit of the doubt as to

whether there is a fact issue. The court does not try issues of fact on a summary judgment motion but may only decide if there are issues to be tried. Please See *Daniels v. GNB, Inc.*, 629 So.2d 595 (Miss. 1993); *Ratliff v. Ratliff*, 500 So.2d 981 (Miss. 1986); and *Brown v. Credit Center, Inc.*, 444 So.2d 358, 362 (Miss.1983).

In this case, a contract existed in two forms; a written contract, and the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing. The trial court erred as a matter of law in acting as if there was only a written contract and nothing else. Sweet proved that they didn't cause any discovery delay, they filed the discovery in question, and moved the trial court to allow the discovery to be completed (in effect a Rule 56 motion). The requested discovery, if documents exist would have substantiated Sweet's breach of contract claim, or if nonexistent would have supported TCI's summary judgment motion.

The Trial Court committed reversible error in cutting off discovery and ruling on TCI's summary judgment motion before it was determined whether certain requested financing documents existed, thereby preventing Sweet from being provided a full and fair opportunity to discover information essential to its opposition to summary judgment. TCI breached the contract in question, and have provided no reason or evidence as to their nonperformance. In this instance, discovery must have been completed in order for the trial court to have had an adequate basis to grant a party judgment as a matter of law, and to find that no genuine issue of material fact exists.

Under established law, Sweet invoked the protections under Rule 56(f) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure by filing its Response to TCI's Motion for Summary Judgment (filed on or about May 6, 2009) wherein they specifically stated:

A. DISCOVERY IS NOT COMPLETE.

Several discovery items in this case are currently pending. The entry of an order granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment would be premature at this point. There are currently outstanding discovery requests in this matter, including Requests for Admissions, Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents propounded upon Defendant TCI MS Investment, Inc. In an abundance of caution, this court should deny Defendant's Motion until discovery is complete, so as to fully flesh out arguments for both sides and prevent the premature entry of a decisive order dismissing Plaintiff's cause of action. Justice is best served in this matter to allow for the completion

of discovery, before this Honorable Court determines whether a genuine issue of material fact exists.

R. at 128.

TCI argues that no counter affidavit was presented by Sweet to counter Mark Small's testimony through his affidavit, and that this did not comply with Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f). However, TCI is mistaken as to the legal requirements of Rule 56(f). A party does not have to submit an affidavit to negate a claim (e.g., an affirmative defense) of the other party on which the other party will bear the burden of proof at trial. Please See *Millican v. Turner*, 503 So.2d 289 (Miss. 1987). A party does not need to serve opposing affidavits if what he has already placed before the court shows a genuine issue of material fact. As long as the data before the court shows a genuine issue of material fact, the court must deny the summary judgment motion. Please See *Hurst v. Southwest Mississippi Legal Services Corp.*, 610 So.2d 374 (Miss. 1992).

In addition, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that in construing Rule 56, it can rely on federal law. *Page v. Wiggins*, 595 So.2d 1291 (Miss. 1992). It is widely accepted and established law that so long as the nonmoving party indicates to the court by "some equivalent statement, preferably in writing" of its need for additional discovery, the nonmoving party is deemed to have invoked the rule. Please See *International Shortstop, Inc. v. Rally's, Inc.*, 939 F.2d 1257, 1266-67 (Tex.Ct.App.1991) [citing *Fontenot v. Upjohn Co.*, 780 F.2d at 1194 (citing *Littlejohn v. Shell Oil Co.*, 483 F.2d 1140, 1146 (5th Cir.) (*en banc*), *cert. denied*, 414 U.S. 1116, 94 S.Ct. 849, 38 L.Ed.2d 743 (1973))]; *accord Radich v. Goode*, 886 F.2d 1391, 1399 (3d Cir.1989) (Hutchinson, J., concurring); *Snook v. Trust Co. of Ga. Bank of Savannah, N.A.*, 859 F.2d 865, 870 (11th Cir.1988).

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