## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2009-CA-01260

DENNIS C. SWEET, III, AND KIMBERLY NOEL-SWEET

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

TCI MS, INC MS INVESTMENTS, INC. (TCI MS INVESTMENT, INC.); AND JOHN DOES 1-5

**APPELLEES** 

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Hinds County, Mississippi First Judicial District Civil Action No. G2008-334 W/4

## BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

REBECCA B. COWAN (MSB#WHITMAN B. JOHNSON, III (MSB#Currie Johnson Griffin Gaines & Myers, P.A. 1044 River Oaks Drive
Post Office Box 750
Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0750
Telephone: (601) 969-1010
Facsimile: (601) 969-5120

Attorneys for Appellee, TCI MS Investments, Inc.

Statement of Issue
Statement of the Case
Statement of the Facts
Summary of the Argument
Standard of Review
Argument
Conclusion
Cartificate of Sarvina

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Cases

AAA Cooper Transp. Co. v. Parks, 18 So.3d 909, 912 (Miss. App.2009)
Airport Inn Enterprises, Inc. V. Ramage, 679 N.W.2d 269 (N.D. 2004)
Alexander v. The Fidelity & Casualty Co., 232 Miss. 629, 100 So.2d 347 (1958)
Austin v. Carpenter, 3 So.3d 147 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009)
Barron v. Murdock Accept. Corp., 240 Miss. 521,127 So.2d 878 (Miss. 1961)
Brown v. Credit Ctr., Inc., 444 So.2d 358 (Miss. 1983)
Carlo Corporation v. Casino Magic of Louisiana, 26 F. Supp.2d 904 (S.D. Miss. 1998) 20,23
Cenac, 609 So.2d 1272
Cooper v. Crabb, 587 So.2d 236, 241 (Miss. 1991)
Cooper v. Lawson, 264 So.2d 890, 891 (Miss. 1972)
Davis v. Christian Broth. Homes of Jackson, Mississippi, Inc., 957 So.2d 390 (Miss. App. 2007)
Earwood v. Reeves, 798 So.2d 508, 514 (Miss. 2001)
Germany v. Denbury Onshore, LLC, 984 So.2d 270, 275 (Miss. 2008)
Gresham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post No. 4057, Inc. 519 So. 2d 413, 415 (Miss. 1988)
Grisham v. Hinton, 490 So.2d 1201 (Miss. 1986)
McKee v. McKee, 568 So.2d 262,266 (Miss. 1990)
Miller v. Tatlon Telecommunications Corporation, 907 F. Supp.2274 (S.D. Miss. 1995) 19
Mississippi State Highway Comm. v. Patterson Enters., Ltd., 672 So.2d 261, 263 (Miss. 1993) 12
Morton v. City of Shelby, 984 So. 2d 323,342 (Miss. App. 2007)
Prescot v. Leaf Fiver Forest Products, Inc., 740 So.2d 301 (Miss, 1999)

Richmond v. Benchmark Constr. Corp., 692 So.2d 60, 61 (Miss. 1997)
Scoggins v. Baptist Mem'l HospDesoto, 967 So. 2d 646, 648 (Miss. 2007)
Scott v. City of Biloxi, 1003 (Miss. 1991)
Simmons v. Bank of Mississippi, 593 So.2d 40 (Miss. 1992)
Smith v. H.C. Bailey Companies, 477 So.2d 224 (Miss. 1985)
Standard Const. Co. V. Brantley Granite Co., 43 So.300 (Miss. 1907)
Stewart v. Southeast Foods, Inc., 688 So.2d 733 (Miss. 1996)
Thames v. Jackson Production Credit Ass'n, 600 So.2d 208, 211 (Miss. 1992)
Theobald v. Nosser, 752 So.2d 1036 (Miss. 1999)
United States v. Little Al, 712 F.2d 133, 135 (5th Cir. 1983)
Univ. Of S. Miss. v. Williams, 891 So. 2d 160 (Miss. 2004)
Van v. Grand Casinos of Mississippi, Inc., 767 So.2d 1014 (Miss. 2000)
Vaughn v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center, 20 So.3d 645, 656 (Miss. 2009)
<u>Statutes</u>
Miss. Code Ann. §21-15-6
Rules
MRCP 56(f)
MRCP 56(e)
MRCP 9(b)

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES<sup>1</sup>

- Did the chancellor properly grant summary judgment in favor of the Appellee, TCI Ms Investments, Inc. ("TCI"), and against Dennis C. Sweet, III and Kimberly Noel-Sweet ("the Sweets"), given the undisputed and indisputable proof that contract contingencies were not met?
- 2. Was the chancellor correct in granting TCI's motion for attorney's fees under the terms of the contract?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> TCI submits that the issues presented by the Sweets in their appellate brief do not reflect the true issues on appeal. As a result, TCI is submitting a separate "Statement of the Issues" for this Court to consider.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### a. Nature of the Case.

The Sweets filed their original complaint against TCI on February 29, 2008, alleging negligence, gross negligence, breach of contract, anticipatory breach of contract, detrimental reliance, and conversion arising from a real estate contract ("the contract") entered into between the Sweets and TCI.<sup>2</sup> (R. 1-9). The Sweets filed an Amended Complaint on March 3, 2008, alleging the same causes of action and attaching the contract as an exhibit to their Complaint. (R. 10-18). As part of their damages, the Sweets sought the payment of \$50,000 in earnest money TCI had deposited into a trust account after signing the contract. (R. 16). TCI was served with process on March 19, 2008, (R. 27), and filed its answer to the Amended Complaint on September 24, 2008. (R. 64-71).

From March 3, 2008, through April 29, 2009, various motions and orders were filed in the case. For example, Michael V. Cory, Esq., who was initially named as a defendant to the Sweets' original and amended complaints, filed a motion to dismiss on December 2, 2008. (R. 72-74). A hearing was held on Cory's motion to dismiss on January 30, 2009. (R. 81). Cory filed a petition to interplead the \$50,000 in earnest money into the court on February 9, 2009. (R. 83-84). An order granting Cory's petition was entered on March 9, 2009, as well as an order dismissing Cory as a defendant. (R. 86-88). The Sweets did not propound any discovery in the case during these eight months. (See Docket Sheet preceding Record).

TCI filed a motion for summary judgment on April 29, 2009. The Sweets responded to TCI's motion for summary judgment on May 6, 2009, by arguing that discovery was incomplete and by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Michael V. Cory, Esq. the attorney who represented TCI during negotiations surrounding the contract was originally named as a defendant to the Appellants' original and amended complaints, but he was dismissed without prejudice by an Agreed Order.

propounding discovery to TCI for the first time. (R. 130-131, R. 138-153). Their response did not contain any substantive argument and was not accompanied by a motion for a continuance or MRCP 56(f) affidavit explaining why their post summary judgment discovery was necessary for them to respond to the motion. (R. 125-129). The Sweets also did not include a motion to strike any exhibit TCI attached to its motion in their response, including an affidavit by its President, Mark Small. (R. 125-129).

TCI filed its rebuttal in support of its motion on May 19, 2009, arguing, among other things, that the Sweets' attempt to conduct discovery after it had filed its motion for summary judgment was not permitted under MRCP 56 absent the filing of the affidavit required under subsection (f). (R. 132-132-137). Nevertheless, TCI quickly responded to the Sweets' May 6, 2007, discovery on May 29, 2009. (R. 154-155). The Sweets did not challenge these discovery responses or conduct any depositions in the case during the eight weeks that transpired from the date of TCI's responses and the date the chancellor heard TCI's motion.

The chancellor heard the motion for summary judgment on July 24, 2009, without the Sweets' having requested a continuance of the hearing<sup>3</sup>, and granted the motion "based on a clear reading of the contract entered into between the parties." (R. 158, 160). A final judgment was entered in favor of TCI on July 31, 2009. (R. 163). On August 4, 2009, TCI filed a motion for attorneys' fees and costs. (R. 164). The Sweets filed their response to the motion on August 11, 2009, arguing that TCI was not the prevailing party in the case because they had filed a notice of appeal. (R. 192-194). TCI filed its rebuttal in support of its motion for attorneys' fees and costs on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Interestingly, the Sweets took the position in their response to the motion for summary judgment that they needed more time to conduct discovery, but then argued only that the motion should be denied.

August 14, 2009. (R. 197-198). The trial court entered an Order granting TCI's motion for attorneys' fees and costs on August 20, 2009. (R. 199). An amended final judgment, which included an award of attorneys' fees and costs, was entered by the trial court on August 20, 2009. (R. 200).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 29, 2008, the Sweets sued TCI, alleging that on June 26, 2007, TCI had agreed to purchase their property, which consisted of an office building and adjacent parking lot located on the corner of South Lamar Street and Pascagoula Street, in Jackson, Mississippi, for the sum of One Million, Two Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$1,200,000.00). The Sweets claimed that TCI had paid earnest money in the sum of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) toward the purchase price, but that TCI did not close on the sale of the property by August 15, 2007, the closing date specified in the contract. The Sweets claimed that TCI's conduct amounted to a breach of contract and negligence, and that TCI's refusal to transfer the \$50,000 in earnest money that it had deposited in trust after signing the contract amounted to conversion. (R. 10-29).

The contract in question contained the following language:

3. **EARNEST MONEY**. Earnest Money in the amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) shall be deposited by Buyer as Earnest Money. . . . All Earnest Money or Additional Earnest Money paid or deposited by Buyer shall be applied to reduce the Purchase Price at Closing.

\*\*\*

- 5. CONTINGENCIES. The obligations of the Buyer herein, including forfeiture of any Earnest Money, are subject to the Buyer obtaining financing; zoning; approvals, and certain environmental permits, satisfactory to the Buyer prior to the Closing Date.
- 6. **DUE DILIGENCE AND FEASIBILITY PERIOD**. Buyer is expressly granted until July 12, 2007, in which to conduct due diligence and feasibility studies ("Due Diligence Period"). During the Due Diligence Period, Buyer shall have the right to perform any non-destructive studies or analysis Buyer deems necessary, and Buyer, upon giving reasonable notice to Seller, shall have the right to enter the Property in person, or by agent, to perform testing and analysis. If Buyer determines that the property is not suitable for Buyer's intended use; then Buyer may at Buyer's sole discretion, terminate this Contract, and the same shall be null and void . . .

- 7. SURVEY. Survey shall be provided by Seller within twenty days after the expiration of the due diligence period. . . . Should the Buyer determine after review of the of the Survey, in Buyer's sole discretion, that the Survey differs in any material way from the Property as described in Paragraph 1 above, or is otherwise unsuitable for Buyer's needs or intended use, buyer may terminate this Contract . . .
- 8. **POSSESSION, CLOSING AND CLOSING COSTS.** The Closing Date of this sale shall be on or before August 15, 2007. . . .
- 9. **ASSIGNMENT.** This Contract and the rights set forth herein may be assigned by the Buyer in whole or in part without the prior written consent of the Seller, and such assignment and assumption of Buyer's obligations hereunder by such assignee shall not result in a release of the Seller from any obligations herein. The Seller has no right to assign this Contract.

\*\*\*

- 13. **AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES:** This contract contains the entire agreement of the parties and cannot be changed except by their written consent.
- 14. **ATTORNEY'S FEES**: Any signatory to this contract who is the prevailing party in any legal proceedings against any other signatory brought under or with relation to this contract or transaction shall be additionally entitled to recover court costs and reasonable attorney's fees from the non-prevailing party.
- 15. **DEFAULT:** If Buyer fails to comply with Buyer's obligations herein, Seller's sole and exclusive remedy shall be to terminate this contract and receive the Earnest Money as full and final compensation. . . . If Seller fails to comply with any obligation under this Contract for any reason, Buyer may: (I) enforce specific performance hereof and seek any such other relief as may be available under the law; or (ii) terminate this contract and receive the Earnest Money, thereby releasing Seller from the contract.
- (R. 19-24)(emphasis added). Under the terms of paragraph 5 of the contract (the "Contingencies paragraph"), if TCI could not obtain financing that was satisfactory to it before the closing date, TCI no longer had any obligations to the Sweets, including the forfeiture of the earnest money it had deposited in trust toward the property.

In addition to the failure of the financing contingency, other conditions in the contract were never met. Under paragraph 7 of the contract, the "Survey" paragraph, the Sweets were required to provide TCI with a survey on the property by August 2, 2007, and, if TCI determined that the survey differed in any way to what it thought it was buying or determined that the property was unsuitable for the way it intended to use the property, TCI could terminate the contract. (R. 20). The Sweets did not comply with the "Survey" portion of paragraph 7 of the contract by providing TCI with a survey of the property by August 2, 2007. (R. 110).

On April 29, 2009, TCI filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that because it was unable to find financing satisfactory to it for the purchase of the property, it was not obligated to close on the contract or to transfer the earnest money it had deposited into trust for the property. (R. 89-111). Its motion relied upon the language in the "Contingencies paragraph," which clearly stated that its obligations as the buyer of the Sweets' property, including the forfeiture of any earnest money, were subject to its obtaining financing satisfactory to it before the closing date. (R. 19). TCI attached an affidavit by its president, Mark Small, to its motion for summary judgment. (R. 110-111). In his affidavit, Small stated that TCI had attempted to obtain financing satisfactory to it from numerous institutions, but that it had failed in its attempts. (R. 110-111). TCI also attached the Sweets' amended complaint and the contract as exhibits to its motion for summary judgment. (R.94-110).

The Sweets did not conduct any discovery in the case before April 29, 2009, the date TCI filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. Instead, they argued that discovery was incomplete in their May 6, 2009, response to the motion (R. 125-131), and propounded discovery. (R.130-131, 138-153). TCI argued in its rebuttal in support of its motion for summary judgment that because the Sweets did not file a motion for a continuance or supply the chancellor with the affidavit

required under MRCP 56(f) along with their response to the motion, the chancellor should refuse to continue the summary judgment proceedings. (R. 132-137). Without waiving this objection, TCI responded to the discovery propounded by the Sweets on May 29, 2009. (R. 154, A.R.E. 1-21). TCI then noticed a hearing on its motion for summary judgment for June 19, 2009. (R. 156). When the Sweets asked for another date, TCI re-noticed the hearing for July 24, 2009. (R. 158).

The Sweets never filed a substantive response to the motion for summary judgment or moved to strike any exhibit attached to the motion. Eight weeks passed from the date TCI responded to the Sweets' discovery and the date the chancellor heard its motion for summary judgment. During this time, the Sweets never filed any motion to compel, challenging TCI's responses to their discovery. They also never noticed any depositions. Instead, they waited until the hearing to argue that the motion should be denied because TCI had not fully responded to their discovery. (T. 9-28).

The chancellor granted the motion for summary judgment at the conclusion of the July 24, 2009, hearing. He held that under a clear reading of the contract, no genuine issue of material fact existed as to TCI's liability to the Sweets under their amended complaint since TCI, under the "Contingency paragraph" of the contract, no longer had an obligation to close on the property on August 15, 2007, once it determined that it could not find financing satisfactory to it. A final judgment was entered in favor of TCI on August 4, 2009. (R. 163). TCI then filed a motion for court costs and attorney's fees, which it supported by an attorney's affidavit and a copy of its legal bills. (R. 164-179). The chancellor granted the motion and amended the final judgment to include an award of costs and attorney's fees to TCI. (R. 200).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Sweets never attempted to conduct discovery in the case before TCI filed its motion for summary judgment on April 29, 2009. Their response to the motion argued only that the motion should be denied because discovery was incomplete in the case. The Sweets did not file any motion to continue the hearing on the motion or attach the affidavit required under MRCP 56(f) to any such motion specifically telling the chancellor why any post summary judgment discovery was necessary for them to respond adequately to the motion. Rule 56(f) states as follows:

Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such order as is just.

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